

Activity Report 2019

Project-Team ELAN

modELing the Appearance of Nonlinear phenomena

IN COLLABORATION WITH: Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann (LJK)

RESEARCH CENTER

Grenoble - Rhône-Alpes

THEME **Numerical schemes and simulations**

Table of contents

1.	Team, Visitors, External Collaborators				
2.	Overall Objectives				
3.	Research Program	2			
	3.1. Discrete modeling of slender elastic structures	2			
	3.1.1. High-order spatial discretization schemes for rods, ribbons and shells	2			
	3.1.2. Numerical continuation of rod equilibria in the presence of unilateral constraints	3			
	3.2. Discrete and continuous modeling of frictional contact				
	3.2.1. Optimized algorithms for large nodal systems in frictional contact	3			
	3.2.2. Continuum modeling of granular and fibrous media	4			
	3.3. Inverse design of slender elastic structures [ERC Gem]	4			
	3.3.1. Design of well-suited discrete models for slender structures	4			
	3.3.2. Static inversion of physical objects from geometrical poses	5			
	3.3.3. Dynamic inversion of physical objects from geometrical poses	5			
	3.3.4. Experimental validation with respect to real data	5			
4.	Application Domains	5			
	4.1. Mechanical Engineering	5			
	4.2. Computer Graphics	6			
	4.3. Soft Matter Physics	6			
5.	Highlights of the Year				
	5.1.1. Creation of Graphyz, a new graphics-physics workshop	7			
	5.1.2. Keynote at Eurographics 2019	7			
	5.1.3. Awards	7			
6.	New Software and Platforms				
••	6.1. Argus-distribution	7			
	6.2. Feel++	8			
7.	New Results	8			
·•	7.1. Static simulation of thin elastic ribbons	8			
	7.2. Video-based measurement of the friction coefficient between cloth and a substrate	8			
	7.3. Willmore flow simulation with diffusion-redistanciation numerical schemes	8			
8.	Partnerships and Cooperations	9			
0.	8.1. National Initiatives	9			
	8.2. European Initiatives	9			
	8.3. International Initiatives	10			
9.	Dissemination	10			
٠.	9.1. Promoting Scientific Activities	10			
	9.1.1. Scientific Events: Organisation	10			
	9.1.1.1. General Chair, Scientific Chair	10			
	,				
	9.1.1.2. Member of the Organizing Committees	10			
	9.1.2. Scientific Events: Selection	10			
	9.1.3. Journal	10			
	9.1.4. Invited Talks	10			
	9.2. Teaching - Supervision - Juries	11			
	9.2.1. Teaching	11			
	9.2.2. Supervision	11			
	9.2.3. Juries	11			
	9.3. Popularization	11			
10.	Bibliography	11			

Creation of the Project-Team: 2019 August 01

Keywords:

Computer Science and Digital Science:

- A2.5. Software engineering
- A5.5.4. Animation
- A6.1.1. Continuous Modeling (PDE, ODE)
- A6.1.4. Multiscale modeling
- A6.1.5. Multiphysics modeling
- A6.2.1. Numerical analysis of PDE and ODE
- A6.2.5. Numerical Linear Algebra
- A6.2.6. Optimization
- A6.2.7. High performance computing
- A6.2.8. Computational geometry and meshes
- A6.3.1. Inverse problems
- A6.5. Mathematical modeling for physical sciences
- A6.5.1. Solid mechanics
- A6.5.2. Fluid mechanics
- A6.5.3. Transport
- A9.2. Machine learning

Other Research Topics and Application Domains:

- B1.1.2. Molecular and cellular biology
- B3.3.1. Earth and subsoil
- B5.5. Materials
- B9.2.2. Cinema, Television
- B9.5.3. Physics
- B9.5.5. Mechanics

1. Team, Visitors, External Collaborators

Research Scientists

Florence Descoubes [Team leader, Inria, Researcher, HDR] Thibaut Metivet [Inria, Researcher, from Sep 2019]

Post-Doctoral Fellow

Gauthier Rousseau [Inria, Post-Doctoral Fellow, from Apr 2019]

PhD Students

Raphael Charrondiere [Univ Grenoble Alpes, PhD Student]

Mickael Ly [Inria, PhD Student]

Abdullah Haroon Rasheed [Inria, PhD Student]

Technical staff

Laurence Boissieux [Inria, Engineer]

Victor Romero Gramegna [Inria, Engineer]

Interns and Apprentices

Louis Guillet [Inria, from Sep 2019]

Antoine Marteau [Institut polytechnique de Grenoble, from Feb 2019 until May 2019]

Nathan Shourick [Institut polytechnique de Grenoble, from Feb 2019 until May 2019]

Visiting Scientist

Julien Duron [École normale supérieure de Rennes, from Jun 2019 until Jul 2019]

2. Overall Objectives

2.1. Overall Objectives

ELAN is a young research team of Inria and Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann (UMR 5224), with an original positioning across Computer Graphics and Computational Mechanics. The team is focussed on the design of predictive, robust, efficient, and controllable numerical models for capturing the shape and motion of visually rich mechanical phenomena, such as the buckling of an elastic ribbon, the flowing of sand, or the entangling of large fiber assemblies. Target applications encompass the digital entertainment industry (e.g., feature film animation, special effects), as well as virtual prototyping for the mechanical engineering industry (e.g., aircraft manufacturing, cosmetology); though very different, these two application fields require predictive and scalable models for capturing complex mechanical phenomena at the macroscopic scale. An orthogonal objective is the improvement of our understanding of natural physical and biological processes involving slender structures and frictional contact, through active collaborations with soft matter physicists. To achieve its goals, the team strives to master as finely as possible the entire modeling pipeline, involving a pluridisciplinary combination of scientific skills across Mechanics and Physics, Applied Mathematics, and Computer Science.

3. Research Program

3.1. Discrete modeling of slender elastic structures

For the last 15 years, we have investigated new discrete models for solving the Kirchhoff dynamic equations for thin elastic rods [10], [12], [15]. All our models share a curvature-based spatial discretization, allowing them to capture inextensibility of the rod intrinsically, without the need for adding any kinematic constraint. Moreover, elastic forces boil down to linear terms in the dynamic equations, making them well-suited for implicit integration. Interestingly, our discretization methodology can be interpreted from two different points-of-views. From the finite-elements point-of-view, our strain-based discrete schemes can be seen as discontinuous Galerkin methods of zero and first orders. From the multibody system dynamics point of view, our discrete models can be interpreted as deformable Lagrangian systems in finite dimension, for which a dedicated community has started to grow recently [37]. We note that adopting the multibody system dynamics point of view helped us formulate a linear-time integration scheme [11], which had only be investigated in the case of multibody rigid bodies dynamics so far.

3.1.1. High-order spatial discretization schemes for rods, ribbons and shells

Our goal is to investigate similar high-order modeling strategies for surfaces, in particular for the case of inextensible ribbons and shells. Elastic ribbons have been scarcely studied in the past, but they are nowadays drawing more and more the attention from physicists [25], [34]. Their numerical modeling remains an open challenge. In contrast to ribbons, a huge litterature exists for shells, both from a theoretical and numerical viewpoints (see, e.g., [29], [16]). However, no real consensus has been obtained so far about a unified nonlinear shell theory able to support large displacements. In [13] we have started building an inextensible shell patch by taking as degrees of freedom the curvatures of its mid-surface, expressed in the local frame. As in the super-helix model, we show that when taking curvatures uniform over the element, each term of the equations of motion may be computed in closed-form; besides, the geometry of the element corresponds to a cylinder patch at each time step. Compared to the 1D (rod) case however, some difficulties arise in the 2D (plate/shell) case, where compatibility conditions are to be treated carefully.

3.1.2. Numerical continuation of rod equilibria in the presence of unilateral constraints

In Alejandro Blumentals' PhD thesis [14], we have adopted an optimal control point of view on the static problem of thin elastic rods, and we have shown that direct discretization methods ¹ are particularly well-suited for dealing with scenarios involving both bilateral and unilateral constraints (such as contact). We would like to investigate how our formulations extend to continuation problems, where the goal is to follow a certain branch of equilibria when the rod is subject to some varying constraints (such as one fixed end being applied a constant rotation). To the best of our knowledge, classical continuation methods used for rods [26] are not able to deal with non-persistent or sliding contact.

3.2. Discrete and continuous modeling of frictional contact

Most popular approaches in Computer Graphics and Mechanical Engineering consist in assuming that the objects in contact are locally compliant, allowing them to slightly penetrate each other. This is the principle of penalty-based methods (or molecular dynamics), which consists in adding mutual repulsive forces of the form $k f(\delta)$, where δ is the penetration depth detected at current time step [17], [33]. Though simple to implement and computationally efficient, the penalty-based method often fails to prevent excessive penetration of the contacting objects, which may prove fatal in the case of thin objects as those may just end up traversing each other. One solution might be to set the stiffness factor k to a large enough value, however this causes the introduction of parasitical high frequencies and calls for very small integration steps [9]. Penalty-based approaches are thus generally not satisfying for ensuring robust contact handling.

In the same vein, the friction law between solid objects, or within a yield-stress fluid (used to model foam, sand, or cement, which, unlike water, cannot flow beyond a certain threshold), is commonly modeled using a regularized friction law (sometimes even with simple viscous forces), for the sake of simplicity and numerical tractability (see e.g., [36], [28]). Such a model cannot capture the threshold effect that characterizes friction between contacting solids or within a yield-stress fluid. The nonsmooth transition between sticking and sliding is however responsible for significant visual features, such as the complex patterns resting on the outer surface of hair, the stable formation of sand piles, or typical stick-slip instabilities occurring during motion.

The search for a realistic, robust and stable frictional contact method encouraged us to depart from those, and instead to focus on rigid contact models coupled to the exact nonsmooth Coulomb law for friction (and respectively, to the exact nonsmooth Drucker-Prager law in the case of a fluid), which better integrate the effects of frictional contact at the macroscopic scale. This motivation was the sense of the hiring of F. Bertails-Descoubes in 2007 in the Inria/LJK BIPOP team, specialized in nonsmooth mechanics and related convex optimization methods. In the line of F. Bertails-Descoubes's work performed in the BIPOP team, the ELAN team keeps on including some active research on the finding of robust frictional contact algorithms specialized for slender deformable structures.

3.2.1. Optimized algorithms for large nodal systems in frictional contact

In the fiber assembly case, the resulting mass matrix M is block-diagonal, so that the Delassus operator can be computed in an efficient way by leveraging sparse-block computations [18]. This justifies solving the reduced discrete frictional contact problem where primary unknowns are forces, as usually advocated in nonsmooth mechanics [31]. For cloth however, where primal variables (nodal velocities of the cloth mesh) are all interconnected via elasticity through implicit forces, the method developed above is computationally inefficient. Indeed, the matrix M (only block-sparse, but not block-diagonal) is costly to invert for large systems and its inverse is dense. Recently, we have leveraged the fact that generalized velocities of the system are 3D velocities, which simplifies the discrete contact problem when contacts occur at the nodes. Combined with a multiresolution strategy, we have devised an algorithm able to capture exact Coulomb friction constraints at contact, while retaining computational efficiency [32]. This work also supports cloth self-contact and cloth multilayering. How to enrich the interaction model with, e.g., cohesion, remains an open question. The experimental validation of our frictional contact model is also one of our goals in the medium run.

¹Within this optimal control framework, our previous curvature-based methods can actually be interpreted as a special case of direct single shooting methods.

3.2.2. Continuum modeling of granular and fibrous media

Though we have recently made progress on the continuum formulation and solving of granular materials in Gilles Daviet's PhD thesis [22], [20], [19], we are still far from a continuum description of a macroscopic dry fibrous medium such as hair. One key ingredient that we have not been considering in our previous models is the influence of air inside divided materials. Typically, air plays a considerable role in hair motion. To advance in that direction, we have started to look at a diphasic fluid representation of granular matter, where a Newtonian fluid and the solid phase are fully coupled, while the nonsmooth Drucker-Prager rheology for the solid phase is enforced implicitly [21]. This first approach could be a starting point for modeling immersed granulars in a liquid, or ash clouds, for instance.

A long path then remains to be achieved, if one wants to take into account long fibers instead of isotropic grains in the solid phase. How to couple the fiber elasticity with our current formulation remains a challenging problem.

3.3. Inverse design of slender elastic structures [ERC Gem]

With the considerable advance of automatic image-based capture in Computer Vision and Computer Graphics these latest years, it becomes now affordable to acquire quickly and precisely the full 3D geometry of many mechanical objects featuring intricate shapes. Yet, while more and more geometrical data get collected and shared among the communities, there is currently very little study about how to infer the underlying mechanical properties of the captured objects merely from their geometrical configurations.

An important challenge consists in developing a non-invasive method for inferring the mechanical properties of complex objects from a minimal set of geometrical poses, in order to predict their dynamics. In contrast to classical inverse reconstruction methods, our claim is that 1/ the mere geometrical shape of physical objects reveals a lot about their underlying mechanical properties and 2/ this property can be fully leveraged for a wide range of objects featuring rich geometrical configurations, such as slender structures subject to contact and friction (e.g., folded cloth or twined filaments).

In addition to significant advances in fast image-based measurement of diverse mechanical materials stemming from physics, biology, or manufacturing, this research is expected in the long run to ease considerably the design of physically realistic virtual worlds, as well as to boost the creation of dynamic human doubles.

To achieve this goal, we shall develop an original inverse modeling strategy based upon the following research topics:

3.3.1. Design of well-suited discrete models for slender structures

We believe that the quality of the upstream, reference physics-based model is essential to the effective connection between geometry and mechanics. Typically, such a model should properly account for the nonlinearities due to large displacements of the structures, as well as to the nonsmooth effects typical of contact and friction.

It should also be parameterized and discretized in such a way that inversion gets simplified mathematically, possibly avoiding the huge cost of large and nonconvex optimization. In that sense, unlike concurrent methods which impose inverse methods to be compatible with a generic physics-based model, we instead advocate the design of specific physics-based models which are tailored for the inversion process.

More precisely, from our experience on fiber modeling, we believe that reduced Lagrangian models, based on a minimal set of coordinates and physical parameters (as opposed to maximal coordinates models such as mass-springs), are particularly well-suited for inversion and physical interpretation of geometrical data [24], [23]. Furthermore, choosing a high-order coordinate system (e.g., curvatures instead of angles) allows for a precise handling of curved boundaries and contact geometry, as well as the simplification of constitutive laws (which are transformed into a linear equation in the case of rods). We are currently investigating high-order discretization schemes for elastic ribbons and developable shells [13].

3.3.2. Static inversion of physical objects from geometrical poses

We believe that pure static inversion may by itself reveal many insights regarding a range of parameters such as the undeformed configuration of the object, some material parameters or contact forces.

The typical settings that we consider is composed of, on the one hand, a reference mechanical model of the object of interest, and on the other hand a single or a series of complete geometrical poses corresponding each to a static equilibrium. The core challenge consists in analyzing theoretically and practically the amount of information that can be gained from one or several geometrical poses, and to understand how the fundamental under-determinacy of the inverse problem can be reduced, for each unknown quantity (parameter or force) at play. Both the equilibrium condition and the stability criterion of the equilibrium are leveraged towards this goal. On the theoretical side, we have recently shown that a given 3D curve always matches the centerline of an isotropic suspended Kirchhoff rod at equilibrium under gravity, and that the natural configuration of the rod is unique once material parameters (mass, Young modulus) are fixed [1]. On the practical side, we have recently devised a robust algorithm to find a valid natural configuration for a discrete shell to match a given surface under gravity and frictional contact forces [3]. Unlike rods however, shells can have multiple inverse (natural) configurations. Choosing among the multiple solutions based on some selection criteria is an open challenge. Another open issue, in all cases, is the theoretical characterization of material parameters allowing the equilibrium to be stable.

3.3.3. Dynamic inversion of physical objects from geometrical poses

To refine the solution subspaces searched for in the static case and estimate dynamic parameters (e.g., some damping coefficients), a dynamic inversion process accounting for the motion of the object of interest is necessary.

In contrast to the static case where we can afford to rely on exact geometrical poses, our analysis in the dynamic case will have to take into account the imperfect quality of input data with possible missing parts or outliers. One interesting challenge will be to combine our high-order discretized physics-based model together with the acquisition process in order to refine both the parameter estimation and the geometrical acquisition.

3.3.4. Experimental validation with respect to real data

The goal will be to confront the theories developed above to real experiments. Compared to the statics, the dynamic case will be particularly involving as it will be highly dependent on the quality of input data as well as the accuracy of the motion predicted by our physics-based simulators. Such experiments will not only serve to refine our direct and inverse models, but will also be leveraged to improve the 3D geometrical acquisition of moving objects. Besides, once validation will be performed, we shall work on the setting up of new non-invasive measurement protocols to acquire physical parameters of slender structures from a minimal amount of geometrical configurations.

4. Application Domains

4.1. Mechanical Engineering

Many physicists and mathematicians have strived for centuries to understand the principles governing those complex mechanical phenomena, providing a number of continuous models for slender structures, granular matter, and frictional contact. In the XXth century, industrial applications such as process automatization and new ways of transportation have boosted the fields of Mechanical Engineering and Computer-Aided Design, where material strength, reliability of mechanisms, and safety, standed for the main priorities. Instead, large displacements of structures, buckling, tearing, or entanglement, and even dynamics, were long considered as undesirable behaviors, thus restraining the search for corresponding numerical models.

Only recently, the engineering industry has shown some new and growing interest into the modeling of dynamic phenomena prone to large displacements, contact and friction. For instance, the cosmetology industry is more and more interested in understanding the nonlinear deformation of hair and skin, with the help of simulation. Likewise, auto and aircraft manufacturers are facing new challenges involving buckling or entanglement of thin structures such as carbon or optical fibers; they clearly lack predictive, robust and efficient numerical tools for simulating and optimizing their new manufacturing process, which share many common features with the large-scale simulation scenarii traditionally studied in Computer Graphics applications.

4.2. Computer Graphics

In contrast, Computer Graphics, which has emerged in the 60's with the advent of modern computers, was from the very beginning eager to capture such peculiar phenomena, with the sole aim to produce spectacular images and create astonishing stories. At the origin, Computer Graphics thus drastically departed from other scientific fields. Everyday-life phenomena such as cloth buckling, paper tearing, or hair fluttering in the wind, mostly ignored by other scientists at that time, became actual topics of interest, involving a large set of new research directions to be explored, both in terms of modelling and simulation. Nowadays, although the image production still remains the core activity of the Computer Graphics community, more and more research studies are directed through the virtual and real prototyping of mechanical systems, notably driven by a myriad of new applications in the virtual try on industry (e.g., hairstyling and garment fitting). Furthermore, the advent of additive fabrication is currently boosting research in the free design of new mechanisms or systems for various applications, from architecture design and fabrication of metamaterials to the creation of new locomotion modes in robotics. Some obvious common interests and approaches are thus emerging between Computer Graphics and Mechanical Engineering, yet the two communities remain desperately compartmentalized.

4.3. Soft Matter Physics

From the physics-based viewpoint, since a few decades a new generation of physicists became interested again in the understanding of such visually fascinating phenomena, and started investigating the tight links between geometry and elasticity ². Common objects such as folded or torn paper, twined plants, coiled honey threads, or human hair have thus regained some popularity among the community in Nonlinear Physics ³. In consequence, phenomena of interest have become remarkably close to those of Computer Graphics, since scientists in both places share the common goal to model complex and integrated mechanical phenomena at the macroscopic scale. Of course, the goals and employed methodologies differ substantially from one community to the other, but showcase some evident complementarity: while computer scientists are eager to learn and understand new physical models, physicists get more and more interested in the numerical tools, in which they perceive not only a means to confirm predictions afterwards, but also a support for testing new hypothesis and exploring scenarios that would be too cumbersome or even impossible to investigate experimentally. Besides, numerical exploration starts becoming a valuable tool for getting insights into the search for analytic solutions, thus fully participating to the modeling stage and physical understanding. However, physicists may be limited to a blind usage of numerical black boxes, which may furthermore not be dedicated to their specific needs. According to us, promoting a science of modeling in numerical physics would thus be a promising and rich avenue for the two research fields. Unfortunately, very scarce cooperation currently exists between the two communities, and large networks of collaboration still need to be set up.

5. Highlights of the Year

²In France this new trend was particularly stimulated by the work of Yves Pomeau, who convinced many young scientists to study the nonlinear physics of common objects such as paper, plants, or hair [27].

³It is however amusing to observe that research in these areas is quite successful in obtaining the IG Nobel prize [8], [30], thus still being considered as an exotic research topic by physicists.

5.1. Highlights of the Year

5.1.1. Creation of Graphyz, a new graphics-physics workshop

• F. Bertails-Descoubes, together with B. Audoly (École Polytechnique), has founded, chaired and organized the first graphics-physics workshop, Graphyz, held at Inria Montbonnot on October 24-25 2019. An outstanding scientific program, gathering 15 international experts from both Computer Graphics and Physics, originally combined talks from both communities around various topics ranging from viscous thread coiling to snow avalanches. The workshop was entirely funded by the ERC GEM. Being a high success, it will be organized again in 2021, in Paris.

5.1.2. Keynote at Eurographics 2019

• Florence Bertails-Descoubes was a Keynote speaker at Eurographics 2019 held in May 2019 in Genova, Italy.

5.1.3. Awards

BEST PAPER AWARD:

[7]

R. CHARRONDIÈRE, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, S. NEUKIRCH, V. ROMERO. *Modélisation numérique de rubans en éléments de haut degré*, in "JF.IG.RV 2019 - Journées Françaises d'Informatique Graphique et de Réalité Virtuelle", Marseille, France, November 2019, pp. 1-7, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02384170

6. New Software and Platforms

6.1. Argus-distribution

KEYWORDS: Frictional contact - Cloth dynamics - Mesh adaptation

SCIENTIFIC DESCRIPTION: The Argus-distribution software exactly replicates all the results published in the SIGGRAPH 2018 paper entitled "An Implicit Frictional Contact Solver for Adaptive Cloth Simulation", by Li et al. This paper presents the first method able to account for cloth contact with exact Coulomb friction, treating both cloth self-contacts and contacts occurring between the cloth and an underlying character. The key contribution is to observe that for a nodal system like cloth, the frictional contact problem may be formulated based on velocities as primary variables, without having to compute the costly Delassus operator. Then, by reversing the roles classically played by the velocities and the contact impulses, conical complementarity solvers of the literature can be adapted to solve for compatible velocities at nodes. To handle the full complexity of cloth dynamics scenarios, this base algorithm has been extended in two ways: first, towards the accurate treatment of frictional contact at any location of the cloth, through an adaptive node refinement strategy, second, towards the handling of multiple constraints at each node, through the duplication of constrained nodes and the adding of pin constraints between duplicata. This method allows to handle the complex cloth-cloth and cloth-body interactions in full-size garments with an unprecedented level of realism compared to former methods, while maintaining reasonable computational timings allows to simulate cloth dynamics subject to frictional contact.

FUNCTIONAL DESCRIPTION: Adaptive cloth simulation in the presence of frictional contact. Reference software for the paper "An Implicit Frictional Contact Solver for Adaptive Cloth Simulation", Li et al. 2018, ACM Transactions on Graphics (SIGGRAPH'18). The Argus-distribution code was awarded in 2019 the [Graphics Replicability stamp](http://www.replicabilitystamp.org/), which acknowledges its reproducibility.

- Participants: Jie Li, Gilles Daviet, Rahul Narain, Florence Bertails, Matthew Overby, George Brown and Laurence Boissieux
- Partners: Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University of Minnesota IIT Delhi
- Contact: Florence Bertails
- Publication: An Implicit Frictional Contact Solver for Adaptive Cloth Simulation
- URL: http://www-users.cselabs.umn.edu/~lixx4611/contact_friction.html

6.2. Feel++

KEYWORDS: High order finite elements - Discontinuous Galerkin - High-Performance Computing

FUNCTIONAL DESCRIPTION: Feel++ is a high-performance C++ library for the resolution of general variational formulations, including continuous and discontinuous Galerkin methods, finite element or spectral element methods, reduced basis formulations, etc. It features a high-level domain specific embedded language (DSEL) for Galerkin methods, space dimension-agnostic computation kernels and seamless and automatic parallelism. It also includes applicative toolboxes to solve physics problems in fluid mechanics, solid mechanics, thermal conduction, and the corresponding multi-physics coupling.

Partners: Université de Strasbourg - UGA - Inria

Contact: Thibaut MetivetURL: http://www.feelpp.org

7. New Results

7.1. Static simulation of thin elastic ribbons

Participants: Raphaël Charrondière, Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Victor Romero.

In collaboration with Sébastien Neukirch (Sorbonne Université, Institut Jean le Rond d'Alembert), we have proposed a robust and efficient numerical model to compute stable equilibrium configurations of thin elastic ribbons featuring arbitrarily curved natural shapes. Our spatial discretization scheme relies on elements characterized by a linear normal curvature and a quadratic geodesic torsion with respect to arc length. Such a high-order discretization allows for a great diversity of kinematic representations, while guaranteeing the ribbon to remain perfectly inextensible. Stable equilibria are calculated by minimizing gravitational and elastic energies of the ribbon, under a developability constraint. This work is currently under review in a journal of Mechanics. Some preliminary results have already been communicated about in two French congresses, one in Mechanics [6] and one in Computer Graphics [7] (best paper award).

7.2. Video-based measurement of the friction coefficient between cloth and a substrate

Participants: Haroon Rasheed, Victor Romero, Florence Bertails-Descoubes.

In collaboration with Arnaud Lazarus (Sorbonne Université, Institut Jean le Rond d'Alembert), Jean-Sébastien Franco and Stefanie Wuhrer (Inria, Morphéo team), we have investigated a first non-invasive measurement network for estimating cloth friction at contact with a substrate. Our network was trained on data exclusively generated by the solver ARGUS co-developed by the ELAN team, which we have carefully validated against real experiments under controlled conditions. We have shown promising friction measurement results on multiple real cloth samples contacting various kinds of substrates, by comparing our estimations based on a simple video acquisition protocol against standard measurements. This work has been submitted in late 2019 for publication in a Computer Vision conference, and some preliminary results have been communicated about in a mechanical congress [4].

7.3. Willmore flow simulation with diffusion-redistanciation numerical schemes

Participant: Thibaut Metivet.

In collaboration with Arnaud Sengers (Université Claude Bernard), Emmanuel Maitre (Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann, Grenoble INP) and Mourad Ismail (Laboratoire Interdisciplinaire de Physique, UGA), we have proposed original diffusion-redistanciation numerical schemes to compute the static shapes of elastic membranes with bending stiffness under constant area constraints. This numerical method relies on an implicit representation of the surface which is used as an initial condition for diffusion-like equations. This allows to circumvent the usual difficulties pertaining to the high geometrical order and non-linearities of the bending energy and to benefit from the robustness of discretised diffusion operators. We have implemented the schemes within the finite element library Feel++ and studied the numerical convergence properties in 2D and 3D. We have also validated our method using comparative benchmarks computed with standard approaches. This work has led to the PhD defense of Arnaud Sengers [35] and a publication is under preparation.

8. Partnerships and Cooperations

8.1. National Initiatives

8.1.1. National Collaborations

• Long-term collaboration with Christophe Prud'homme and Vincent Chabannes (Université de Strasbourg and Centre de modélisation et de simulation de Strasbourg).

8.2. European Initiatives

8.2.1. FP7 & H2020 Projects

8.2.1.1. GEM

Title: from GEometry to Motion, inverse modeling of complex mechanical structures

Programm: H2020

Type: ERC

Duration: September 2015 - August 2021

Coordinator: Inria

Inria contact: Florence BERTAILS-DESCOUBES

With the considerable advance of automatic image-based capture in Computer Vision and Computer Graphics these latest years, it becomes now affordable to acquire quickly and precisely the full 3D geometry of many mechanical objects featuring intricate shapes. Yet, while more and more geometrical data get collected and shared among the communities, there is currently very little study about how to infer the underlying mechanical properties of the captured objects merely from their geometrical configurations. The GEM challenge consists in developing a non-invasive method for inferring the mechanical properties of complex objects from a minimal set of geometrical poses, in order to predict their dynamics. In contrast to classical inverse reconstruction methods, my proposal is built upon the claim that 1/ the mere geometrical shape of physical objects reveals a lot about their underlying mechanical properties and 2/ this property can be fully leveraged for a wide range of objects featuring rich geometrical configurations, such as slender structures subject to frictional contact (e.g., folded cloth or twined filaments). To achieve this goal, we shall develop an original inverse modeling strategy based upon a/ the design of reduced and high-order discrete models for slender mechanical structures including rods, plates and shells, b/ a compact and well-posed mathematical formulation of our nonsmooth inverse problems, both in the static and dynamic cases, c/ the design of robust and efficient numerical tools for solving such complex problems, and d/ a thorough experimental validation of our methods relying on the most recent capturing tools. In addition to significant advances in fast image-based measurement of diverse mechanical materials stemming from physics, biology, or manufacturing, this research is expected in the long run to ease considerably the design of physically realistic virtual worlds, as well as to boost the creation of dynamic human doubles.

8.3. International Initiatives

8.3.1. Inria International Partners

- 8.3.1.1. Declared Inria International Partners
 - Long-term partnership with Rahul Narain (University of Minnesota, USA, and IIT Delhi, INDIA) and Rahul Narain's PhD student Jie Li (University of Minnesota, USA).
 - Long-term partnership with Alexandre-Derouet-Jourdan (OLM Digital, JAPAN).

9. Dissemination

9.1. Promoting Scientific Activities

9.1.1. Scientific Events: Organisation

- 9.1.1.1. General Chair, Scientific Chair
 - Florence Bertails-Descoubes was co-founder and co-chair (together with Basile Audoly, École Polytechnique) of the new graphics-physics worskhop Graphyz, held at Inria in Montbonnot on October 24-25 2019. The ELAN team was the local organizer of the event.
- 9.1.1.2. Member of the Organizing Committees
 - Florence Bertails-Descoubes, together with the help of Inria and of the ELAN team, has organized the new graphics-physics workshop Graphyz at Inria in Montbonnot. See above.

9.1.2. Scientific Events: Selection

- 9.1.2.1. Member of the Conference Program Committees
 - Florence Bertails-Descoubes was member of the ACM SIGGRAPH Technical Program Committee in 2019, and of the Eurographics Technical Program Committee in 2019.

9.1.3. *Journal*

- 9.1.3.1. Reviewer Reviewing Activities
 - Florence Bertails-Descoubes was reviewer in 2019 for ACM Transaction on Graphics, ACM SIG-GRAPH 2019, ACM SIggraph Asia 2019, ACM-EG Symposium on Computer Animation, UIST 2019, Nonlinear Dynamics, Computer Graphics Forum, SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, Elsevier Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering.
 - Thibaut Metivet was reviewer in 2019 for Elsevier Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering and Coupled Systems Mechanics.

9.1.4. Invited Talks

- Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Keynote speaker at Eurographics 2019, Genova, Italy, May 2019.
- Florence Bertails-Descoubes, invited talk at Matherials, a series of cross-disciplinary seminars jointly organized by Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann, SIMAP and Institut Fourier, June 2019.
- Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Exposé invité aux Journées Françaises d'Informatique Graphique, Marseille, November 2019.
- Florence Bertails-Descoubes, invited talk at the HCERES evaluation of Laboratoire Jean Kuntzmann, Inria Montbonnot, December 2019.
- Thibaut Metivet, invited poster at RheoSuNN, a workshop on the numerical simulation of suspensions organised at Ecole Polytechnique in March 2019.

9.2. Teaching - Supervision - Juries

9.2.1. Teaching

Licence : Raphaël Charrondière, TP Projet Logiciel, 13h éq TD, L2 STG Grenoble, Université Grenoble Alpes.

Licence : Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Méthodes Numériques, 18h éq TD, L3, ENSIMAG 1A, Grenoble INP.

License: Thibaut Metivet, Analyse, 33h éq TD, L3, ENSIMAG 1A, Grenoble INP.

Master : Raphaël Charrondière, Complexité Algorithmique Des Problèmes, 15h éq TD, M1, Université Grenoble Alpes.

Master: Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Special Course for M2 at École Normale Supérieure de Lyon, entitled "Numerical Mechanics: From Lagrangian mechanics to simulation tools for computer graphics", 19h éq TD.

Master: Mickaël Ly, Special Course for M2 at École Normale Supérieure de Lyon, entitled "Numerical Mechanics: From Lagrangian mechanics to simulation tools for computer graphics", 14h éq TD.

9.2.2. Supervision

PhD in progress: Mickaël Ly, Static inverse modelling of cloth, 01 octobre 2017, Florence Bertails-Descoubes and Mélina Skouras.

PhD in progress: Haroon Rasheed, Inverse dynamic modeling of cloth, 01 novembre 2017, Florence Bertails-Descoubes, Jean-Sébastien Franco, and Stefanie Wuhrer

PhD in progress: Raphaël Charrondière, Modeling and numerical simulation of elastic inextensible surfaces, 01 septembre 2018, Florence Bertails-Descoubes and Sébastien Neukirch.

PhD in progress : François Der Hovsepian, Modélisation et simulation d'écoulement de cellules tumorales dans le sang et de l'adhésion aux parois, 19 October 2017, Christophe Prud'homme, Vincent Chabannes (Université de Strasbourg) and Thibaut Metivet.

9.2.3. Juries

Florence Bertails-Descoubes, member (Examinatrice) of Ph.D. Thesis committee of A. Sibellas (8 March 2019), INSA Lyon (directeur de thèse : E. Maire)

Florence Bertails-Descoubes, member (Présidente du jury) of Ph.D. Thesis committee of V. Leroy (17 October 2019), Inria Rhône-Alpes Montbonnot (directeur de thèse : E. Boyer, co-encadrant : J.-S. Franco).

Thibaut Metivet, member (Encadrant, invité) of Ph.D. Thesis committee of A. Sengers (19 July 2019), Université Grenoble-Alpes (directeur de thèse : E. Maitre).

9.3. Popularization

9.3.1. Articles and contents

• Focus on our cloth simulator Argus, on a video prepared by A. Aftalion and published in February 2019 in http://video.math.cnrs.fr.

10. Bibliography

Major publications by the team in recent years

[1] F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, A. DEROUET-JOURDAN, V. ROMERO, A. LAZARUS. Inverse design of an isotropic suspended Kirchhoff rod: theoretical and numerical results on the uniqueness of the natural shape, in "Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences", April 2018, vol. 474, no 2212, pp. 1-26 [DOI: 10.1098/RSPA.2017.0837], https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01827887

- [2] J. Li, G. Daviet, R. Narain, F. Bertails-Descoubes, M. Overby, G. Brown, L. Boissieux. *An Implicit Frictional Contact Solver for Adaptive Cloth Simulation*, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics", August 2018, vol. 37, no 4, pp. 1-15 [*DOI*: 10.1145/3197517.3201308], https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01834705
- [3] M. LY, R. CASATI, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, M. SKOURAS, L. BOISSIEUX. *Inverse Elastic Shell Design with Contact and Friction*, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics", November 2018, vol. 37, n^o 6, pp. 1-16 [DOI: 10.1145/3272127.3275036], https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01883655

Publications of the year

International Conferences with Proceedings

- [4] A.-H. RASHEED, V. ROMERO, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, A. LAZARUS, S. WUHRER, J.-S. FRANCO. *Estimating friction in cloth, using simulation and machine learning*, in "APS 2019 American Physical Society March Meeting", Boston, United States, March 2019, 1 p., https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01982257
- [5] V. ROMERO, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, A. DEROUET-JOURDAN, A. LAZARUS. *Inverse design of a sus-pended Kirchhoff rod: From theory to practice*, in "APS 2019 American Physical Society March Meeting", Boston, United States, March 2019, https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01981923

Conferences without Proceedings

- [6] R. CHARRONDIÈRE, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, S. NEUKIRCH. Modélisation numérique de rubans en éléments de haut degré, in "14ème Colloque National en Calcul des Structures (CSMA 2019)", Giens, France, May 2019, pp. 1-8, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02384085
- [7] Best Paper
 - R. CHARRONDIÈRE, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, S. NEUKIRCH, V. ROMERO. *Modélisation numérique de rubans en éléments de haut degré*, in "JF.IG.RV 2019 Journées Françaises d'Informatique Graphique et de Réalité Virtuelle", Marseille, France, November 2019, pp. 1-7, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02384170.

References in notes

- [8] B. AUDOLY, S. NEUKIRCH. Fragmentation of Rods by Cascading Cracks: Why Spaghetti Does Not Break in Half, in "Physical Review Letters", 2005, vol. 95, n^o 9, 095505 p.
- [9] D. BARAFF. Analytical methods for dynamic simulation of non-penetrating rigid bodies, in "Computer Graphics Proceedings (Proc. ACM SIGGRAPH'89)", New York, NY, USA, ACM, 1989, pp. 223–232
- [10] F. BERTAILS, B. AUDOLY, M.-P. CANI, B. QUERLEUX, F. LEROY, J.-L. LÉVÊQUE. Super-Helices for Predicting the Dynamics of Natural Hair, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. ACM SIG-GRAPH'06)", 2006, vol. 25, pp. 1180–1187 [DOI: 10.1145/1141911.1142012], http://www-evasion.imag.fr/Publications/2006/BACQLL06
- [11] F. BERTAILS. *Linear Time Super-Helices*, in "Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. Eurographics'09)", apr 2009, vol. 28, n^o 2, http://www-ljk.imag.fr/Publications/Basilic/com.lmc.publi. PUBLI_Article@1203901df78_1d3cdaa/

[12] F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES. *Super-Clothoids*, in "Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. Eurographics'12)", 2012, vol. 31, n^o 2pt2, pp. 509–518 [*DOI*: 10.1111/j.1467-8659.2012.03030.x], http://www.inrialpes.fr/bipop/people/bertails/Papiers/superClothoids.html

- [13] A. BLUMENTALS, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, R. CASATI. *Dynamics of a developable shell with uniform curvatures*, in "The 4th Joint International Conference on Multibody System Dynamics", Montréal, Canada, May 2016, https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01311559
- [14] A. BLUMENTALS. Numerical modelling of thin elastic solids in contact, Université de Grenoble Alpes, July 2017
- [15] R. CASATI, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES. *Super Space Clothoids*, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. ACM SIGGRAPH'13)", July 2013, vol. 32, n^o 4, pp. 48:1–48:12, http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2461912. 2461962
- [16] D. CHAPELLE, K. BATHE. *The Finite Element Analysis of Shells Fundamentals Second Edition*, Computational Fluid and Solid Mechanics, Springer, 2011, 410 p. [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-16408-8]
- [17] P. CUNDALL. A computer model for simulating progressive large scale movements of blocky rock systems. In Proceedings of the Symposium of the International Society of Rock Mechanics, in "Proceedings of the Symposium of the International Society of Rock Mechanics", 1971, vol. 1, pp. 132–150
- [18] G. DAVIET, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, L. BOISSIEUX. A hybrid iterative solver for robustly capturing Coulomb friction in hair dynamics, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. ACM SIGGRAPH Asia'11)", 2011, vol. 30, pp. 139:1–139:12, http://www.inrialpes.fr/bipop/people/bertails/Papiers/hybridIterativeSolverHairDynamicsSiggraphAsia2011.html
- [19] G. DAVIET, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES. A semi-implicit material point method for the continuum simulation of granular materials, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics", July 2016, vol. 35, n^o 4, 13 p. [DOI: 10.1145/2897824.2925877], https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01310189
- [20] G. DAVIET, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES. Nonsmooth simulation of dense granular flows with pressure-dependent yield stress, in "Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics", April 2016, vol. 234, pp. 15-35 [DOI: 10.1016/J.JNNFM.2016.04.006], https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01236488
- [21] G. DAVIET, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES. Simulation of Drucker–Prager granular flows inside Newtonian fluids, February 2017, working paper or preprint, https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01458951
- [22] G. DAVIET. Modèles et algorithmes pour la simulation du contact frottant dans les matériaux complexes : application aux milieux fibreux et granulaires, Grenoble Alpes Universités, December 2016
- [23] A. DEROUET-JOURDAN, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, G. DAVIET, J. THOLLOT. *Inverse Dynamic Hair Modeling with Frictional Contact*, in "ACM Trans. Graph.", November 2013, vol. 32, n^o 6, pp. 159:1–159:10, http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2508363.2508398
- [24] A. DEROUET-JOURDAN, F. BERTAILS-DESCOUBES, J. THOLLOT. *Stable Inverse Dynamic Curves*, in "ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. ACM SIGGRAPH Asia'10)", December 2010, vol. 29, pp. 137:1–137:10, http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1882261.1866159

- [25] M. A. DIAS, B. AUDOLY. "Wunderlich, Meet Kirchhoff": A General and Unified Description of Elastic Ribbons and Thin Rods, in "Journal of Elasticity", Apr 2015, vol. 119, n^o 1, pp. 49–66, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10659-014-9487-0
- [26] E. J. DOEDEL, R. C. PFAFFENROTH, A. R. CHAMBODUT, T. F. FAIRGRIEVE, Y. A. KUZNETSOV, B. E. OLDEMAN, B. SANDSTEDE, X. WANG. *AUTO 2000: Continuation and Bifurcation Software for Ordinary Differential Equations (with HomCont)*, March 2006
- [27] ESPCI. Rencontre en l'honneur de Yves Pomeau, octobre 2016, 2016, https://www.sfpnet.fr/rencontre-celebrant-la-medaille-boltzmann-d-yves-pomeau, https://www.sfpnet.fr/rencontre-celebrant-la-medaille-boltzmann-d-yves-pomeau
- [28] I. FRIGAARD, C. NOUAR. On the usage of viscosity regularisation methods for visco-plastic fluid flow computation, in "Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics", April 2005, vol. 127, n^o 1, pp. 1–26 [DOI: 10.1016/J.JNNFM.2005.01.003]
- [29] A. L. GOL'DENVEIZER. Theory of Elastic Thin Shells, Pergamon Press, 1961
- [30] R. E. GOLDSTEIN, P. B. WARREN, R. C. BALL. Shape of a Ponytail and the Statistical Physics of Hair Fiber Bundles, in "Phys. Rev. Lett.", Feb 2012, vol. 108, 078101 p., https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 108.078101
- [31] M. JEAN. *The Non Smooth Contact Dynamics Method*, in "Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering", 1999, vol. 177, pp. 235-257, Special issue on computational modeling of contact and friction, J.A.C. Martins and A. Klarbring, editors
- [32] J. Li, G. Daviet, R. Narain, F. Bertails-Descoubes, M. Overby, G. Brown, L. Boissieux. *An Implicit Frictional Contact Solver for Adaptive Cloth Simulation*, in "ACM Trans. Graph.", August 2018, vol. 37, n^o 4
- [33] M. MOORE, J. WILHELMS. *Collision detection and response for computer animation*, in "Computer Graphics Proceedings (Proc. ACM SIGGRAPH'88)", 1988, pp. 289–298
- [34] D. MOULTON, P. GRANDGEORGE, S. NEUKIRCH. *Stable elastic knots with no self-contact*, in "Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids", 2018, vol. 116, pp. 33–53 [DOI: 10.1016/J.JMPS.2018.03.019], http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022509617310104
- [35] A. SENGERS. Semi-implicit and diffusion-redistanciation schemes for the dynamic of red blood cells, Université Grenoble Alpes, July 2019, https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-02341602
- [36] J. SPILLMANN, M. TESCHNER. An Adaptive Contact Model for the Robust Simulation of Knots, in "Computer Graphics Forum", 2008, vol. 27, n^o 2, Proc. Eurographics'08
- [37] H. SUGIYAMA, J. GERTSMAYR, A. MIKKOLA. Flexible Multibody Dynamics Essential for Accurate Modeling in Multibody System Dynamics, in "Journal of Computational Nonlinear Dynamics", Novembler 2013, vol. 9